247

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

APR 13 1993

5/7

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA**

No. 81,467

**DOM MIELE and SHIRLEY MIELE,  
Petitioners - Appellants,**

v.

**PRUDENTIAL-BACHE, ET AL.,  
Respondents - Appellees.**

**ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES  
COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT**

No. 92-2334

USDC No. 91-150-CIV-FTM-15D

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

GRADY & ASSOCIATES, L.P.A.  
Thomas R. Grady, Esq.  
3411 Tamiami Trail, North  
Suite 200  
Naples, Florida 33940  
(813)261-6555

Attorneys for Appellants Dom and Shirley Miele

April 8, 1993

**STATEMENT REGARDING  
ORAL ARGUMENT**

## I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal is from an order and judgment of the United States District Court for the Middle District Court of Florida purporting to confirm an arbitration award. That order was appealed to (and is currently pending before) the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit which has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1291. That court certified the question now before this Court as one of great public importance and, accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to FLA. APP. CIV. P. 9.150 entitled "Discretionary Proceedings to Review Certified Questions from Federal Courts."

## II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The following question has been certified by the Court of Appeals for review by this Court:

DOES FLA. STAT. §768.73 APPLY TO ARBITRATION AWARDS?

### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS**

#### **A. Statement of Course of Proceedings in Federal Court**

Appellants Dom and Shirley Miele (the "Mieles" or the "Appellants") maintained an investment brokerage account with Appellees Prudential-Bache Securities, Roger Jones and Doug Haas ("Appellees") for many years in Naples, Florida. After discovery by the Mieles of apparent fraud and mismanagement regarding their brokerage firm account, the parties submitted their claims to arbitration pursuant to a contract containing a pre-dispute arbitration agreement. After a hearing on the merits, an arbitration award was rendered on June 7, 1991. The award provided for the payment of substantial compensatory and punitive damages to the Mieles by Appellees. (Motion (Petition) to Confirm Award of Arbitrators, at p.2 and Exhibit B, Docket No. 1).<sup>1</sup>

Upon receipt of the award, the Mieles filed a Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") petition in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida on June 13, 1991 seeking to have the award confirmed. (Docket No. 1). Subsequent to this filing, Appellees paid a portion of the award which was accepted by the Mieles with the written understanding that it represented only a partial payment and did not amount to a waiver of the Mieles' right to fully enforce the award in the FAA proceeding. On July 29, 1991, the Appellees' responded to the Mieles' petition and represented to the district court that the award had been fully paid and that the issues raised in the petition were moot. (Docket No. 9).

---

<sup>1</sup> Record references will be made either directly to the District Court Docket Sheet included in the Record Excerpts, *e.g.*, (Docket No. \_\_\_\_\_), or, for greater convenience, by naming the record item and also referencing the Docket Sheet, *e.g.*, (Motion for Leave to File Reply, at \_\_\_\_\_, Docket No. \_\_\_\_\_). The certified record was forwarded to this Court by the Clerk of the United States Court of Appeals on March 19, 1993.

Contrary to the Appellees' representations in responding to the Mieles' petition to confirm their arbitration award, Appellees had in fact failed and refused to pay the Mieles' award in full even though they had been on notice of the terms of the award since early June, 1991. Appellees contended, however, that the Mieles' award had been paid in full based on their erroneous interpretation of the calculation of the punitive damages awarded the Mieles by the arbitrators and also their argument that FLA. STAT. §768.73, and more particularly subsection (2) of that statute, is applicable to private contractual dispute resolution mechanisms such as arbitration. (Respondents' Response to Claimants' Petition to Confirm Award of Arbitrators, at p.2, Docket No. 9). Section 768.73(2) provides in part<sup>2</sup>:

In any *civil action*, an award of punitive damages shall be payable as follows:

- (a) Forty percent of the award shall be payable to the claimant.
- (b) If the cause of action was based on personal injury or wrongful death, 60 percent of the award shall be payable to the Public Medical Assistance Trust Fund; otherwise, 60 percent of the award shall be payable to the General Revenue Fund.

(Emphasis added).

Notably, despite their purported reliance on §768.73(2), Appellees took no steps to pay the State its supposed statutory share of the punitive damages nor did Appellees seek to interplead the State. Instead, Appellees simply continued to withhold the funds, obviously to their own benefit. Indeed, even as of the date of the filing of this brief with this Court, there

---

<sup>2</sup>Section 768.73(2) has since been amended to provide for 35% of a punitive damage award obtained in certain civil actions to be paid to the State of Florida. 1992 Fla. Laws ch. 92-85, §2.

is nothing in the record to indicate that the State of Florida has any knowledge of these proceedings.

On December 16, 1991, the Mieles moved the district court for an order confirming the award of the arbitrators and stated in their supporting memorandum of law the reasons why Appellees' contention that the award had already been paid in full had no basis in either law or fact. (Docket No. 11). On the same date, the Mieles also sought oral argument on their motion. (Docket No. 12).

On January 27, 1992, Appellees filed a memorandum opposing the Mieles' request for oral argument and their motion for an order confirming the arbitration award. Because Appellees' memorandum contained misstatements of both law and fact, the Mieles moved for leave to file a reply on February 4, 1992. (Docket No. 17). This motion was never ruled upon by the district court.

On March 10, 1992, without hearing oral argument, the district court entered an order on the Mieles' petition which purported to confirm the award but which provided for payment of a portion of the award to the State, a non-party to either the arbitration agreement, the arbitration hearing or the district court proceedings. (Docket No. 18). The district court, while seemingly recognizing that the construction and constitutionality of FLA. STAT. §768.73(2) as applied to arbitrations and arbitration awards raised issues of first impression, held with almost no analysis that the statute applied to arbitration awards and then declined to reach the constitutional issue on the ground that a case was already pending before this Court concerning that question. Although the district court did not cite the case to which it referred, that case, *Gordon v. State of Florida*, 585 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), *aff'd*, 608 So.2d 800 (Fla.

1992), has nothing to do with arbitration awards or the relationship §768.73(2) bears to arbitration proceedings. Subsequent to the district court decision in the instant case, this Court affirmed the lower court's decision in *Gordon* and, in its opinion, made no reference to arbitration awards or proceedings.

As a result of the district court's order, the Mieleles have been paid only a fraction of the punitive damages to which they are entitled. In applying §768.73(2) to the arbitration, the district court required Appellees to pay into the court's registry a substantial portion of the punitive damages awarded to the Mieleles by the arbitrators pending the decision of this Court in *Gordon* on the constitutionality of the statute as applied to civil actions but *not* arbitrations. The order allowed either party to seek disbursement of funds held in the court registry subsequent to the *Gordon* decision; however, as of this date, no party has sought to do so and, of course, the State is still not a party to these proceedings.

The Mieleles moved for clarification and/or to amend the judgment on March 20, 1992. The district court subsequently granted the Mieleles' motion and ordered Appellees to pay into the court registry pre-judgment interest at the rate of 12% per annum on the portion of the punitive damages award being held. The court further ordered that post-judgment interest was to be paid on that same sum from March 10, 1992 through April 3, 1992. This appeal to the Court of Appeals was filed thereafter on April 6, 1992. (Docket No. 23).

Oral argument was held before the United States Court of Appeals on February 2, 1993. Thereafter, on March 19, 1993, that court certified to this Court only the following narrow question: "Does FLA. STAT. §768.73 apply to arbitration awards?" *Miele slip op.* at 1330.

While the Mieleles believe that the Court of Appeals need not reach that issue in order to provide them with the relief they seek<sup>3</sup>, only this narrow issue will be addressed in this brief.

**B. Statement of Facts**

**1. The contractual relationship between the Mieleles and Appellees**

The Mieleles are residents of Naples, Florida where they have lived in the same home since 1974. Mr. Miele retired in 1971 and Mrs. Miele has been a housewife for her entire life. In 1985, the Mieleles established an investment account with Appellee Prudential-Bache Securities, Inc. The Mieleles' contract with Appellees provided for arbitration of any controversy arising out of or related to the account.

Although the Mieleles carefully explained to Appellees that they could afford no loss of principal and that their additional investment objective was to generate a safe and regular stream of income, Appellees ignored the Mieleles' stated and actual objectives. Over a period of approximately four years, the Mieleles' life savings (which began in the form of a portfolio consisting almost entirely of investment grade securities) ultimately ended up as part of a portfolio entirely made up of unrated or non-investment grade securities.

Once the Mieleles discovered how they had unknowingly been put at risk and had suffered substantial unrealized losses, they sought reimbursement from Appellees but were refused.

---

<sup>3</sup> For example, the Mieleles have argued that, assuming *arguendo* that the statute does apply to arbitrations, the arbitration award itself is clear and unambiguous and must be confirmed even in the event it contains an error of law or fact. *E.g.*, *Robbins v. Day*, 954 F.2d 679, 683 (11th Cir. 1992) ("The statute does not allow an arbitration award to be vacated solely on the basis of error of law or interpretation but requires something more, . . ."); *Booth v. Hume Publishing, Inc.*, 902 F.2d 925 (11th Cir. 1990) ("Most importantly, the Federal Arbitration Act expresses a presumption that arbitration awards will be confirmed. Section 9 of the Act provides that if the parties have agreed to judicial confirmation of the award, then '*the court must grant such an order [confirming the award] unless the award is vacated, modified, or corrected as prescribed in sections 10 and 11 of the title.*' 9 U.S.C. §9 (1970) (emphasis added)." *Booth* at 932; *See also French v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc.*, 784 F.2d 902, 906 (9th Cir. 1986). The Court of Appeals has reserved consideration of these and other issues pending review by this Court of the certified question. *Miele slip op.* at 1329, n.2.

Accordingly, the Mielees and Appellees arbitrated the Mielees' claims (pursuant to their contract) before a panel of arbitrators under the auspices of the American Arbitration Association (the "AAA"). (Motion (Petition) to Confirm Award of Arbitrators and all Exhibits thereto, Docket No. 1).

**2. The arbitration award**

On June 7, 1991, the arbitrators found the Appellees liable to the Mielees and an arbitration award (the "Award") was entered in favor of the Mielees. In addition to compensatory damages for the Mielees' losses, the Award provides by its plain terms for punitive damages in the amount of two times compensatory damages totalling \$533,309.58. Appellees, however, have only paid \$106,661.91 of the punitive damages awarded to the Mielees. (Respondents' Response to Claimants' Petition to Confirm Award of Arbitrators, at Exhibit C attached thereto, Docket No. 9).

**3. The Appellees' failure and refusal to pay the award in full**

As they represented to the district court, the Appellees did forward two checks to the Mielees' counsel under cover of a letter dated June 27, 1991, purportedly in full payment of the Award. (Respondents' Response to Claimants' Petition to Confirm Award of Arbitrators, at Exhibit C attached thereto, Docket No. 9). In violation of the plain language in the Award, Appellees arbitrarily chose to make one of the two checks sent to the Mielees' counsel payable to the State of Florida General Revenue Fund despite the fact that the State was neither a party to the arbitration nor named as a participant in or beneficiary of the Award. That check, in the amount of \$159,992.87, supposedly represented 60% of the Mielees' punitive damages and was presumably directed to the State of Florida General Revenue Fund pursuant to FLA. STAT.

§768.73(2) which provides for splitting punitive damages between the State and Appellants when such damages are rendered in civil actions tried before juries in the public court system.

Upon receiving the two checks from Appellees, counsel for the Mieles promptly contacted Appellees' counsel and pointed out that the bulk of the Mieles' Award remained unpaid. (Motion for an Order Confirming the Award of Arbitrators, at p. 4-5, Docket No. 10).

The Mieles' counsel followed this initial contact with a letter dated July 8, 1991, stating:

I have received and thank you for the partial payment on behalf of your employer in connection with the arbitration award recently obtained by my clients. As discussed recently by phone, our acceptance of your partial payment is without prejudice to our right to collect the remaining unpaid balance of the award. After giving full credit to Prudential for the \$376,141.71 recently received, a balance of \$423,822.66 remains unpaid together with interest.

(Motion for an Order Confirming the Award of Arbitrators, at Exhibit B, Docket No. 10).

Later that same month, the Mieles' counsel (who had been awaiting Appellees' instructions) returned to Appellees at their request the check made payable to the State and also advised Appellees' counsel that §768.73(2) had been found unconstitutional by one court and, in any event, did not apply to awards rendered by an arbitration panel. (Motion for an Order Confirming the Award of Arbitrators, at Exhibit C, Docket No. 10).

Appellees never disputed in writing either the arithmetical calculation of the Award stated in the Mieles' counsel's July 8 letter or the inapplicability of §768.73(2) to arbitration proceedings until serving their so-called response to the Mieles' petition to confirm on July 29, 1991. In their response, Appellees belatedly sought to justify their failure to pay the Mieles' Award in full by erroneously calculating the amount owed as well as unilaterally attempting to



impose §768.73(2) upon the Award yet, inexplicably, failing to interplead the State as a party to these proceedings. (Docket No. 9).

With the Mieles' award remaining unsatisfied by the Appellees, the Mieles sought confirmation of the award in order to ultimately obtain payment. In the Court of Appeals, the Mieles sought to reverse the district court's order and to compel Appellees to fulfill their obligations to the Mieles by order confirming the Award according to its plain terms. The Court of Appeals is looking to this Court for guidance in this area of statutory construction.

### C. Statement of Standard of Review

Although the standard of review applicable to the Court of Appeals is of course not applicable in these discretionary proceedings before this Court, it is helpful for this Court to recognize that the Court of Appeals may review the district court's order *de novo*. The opinion of this Court in connection with its discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' certified question will assist in that *de novo* review.

The errors committed by the district court in this case involve that court's determination and application of state law, *i.e.*, FLA. STAT. §768.73(2), to an arbitration award in the context of a Federal Arbitration Act proceeding. As such, the Court of Appeals may review the district court's order *de novo*. *See, e.g., Salve Regina College v. Russell*, 111 S.Ct. 1217, 1221, 113 L. Ed.2d 190, 198 (1991) ("We conclude that a court of appeals should review *de novo* a district court's determination of state law."); *see also Marchese v. Shearson Hayden Stone*, 734 F. 2d 414, 422 (9th Cir. 1984) ("The district court's interpretation of an arbitrator's decision is a question of law, subject to *de novo* review.")

The Court of Appeals also recently held in *Robbins v. Day*, 954 F.2d 679 (11th Cir. 1992), that there are two standards of review for a district court's order deciding a motion to vacate an arbitration award. According to *Robbins*, a decision *denying* a motion to vacate an arbitration award will be reviewed only for abuse of discretion, while a decision *granting* such a motion is reviewable *de novo* in order "to protect the integrity of the arbitration process." 954 F.2d at 682. Adopting the reasoning of the *Robbins* court, it is clear *de novo* review is required here because the district court so departed from the plain terms of the Mieles' award in confirming that the court's decision amounted to a *de facto* partial vacatur.

#### **IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Arbitration is a highly favored alternative means of resolving disputes which generally has its origin in private contractual agreements. As such, awards issued by arbitrators *must* be confirmed according to their plain terms by federal and state courts in FAA or Florida Arbitration Code proceedings unless a party challenges the award as allowed in Sections 10 and 11 of the FAA or comparable provisions of state law. Indeed, even where an arbitration award may result from an error in fact or law, federal courts are without power to interfere with the decision of the parties' privately chosen fact finders. Despite this universally accepted proposition which both supports private contracts and provides for alternative dispute resolution mechanisms independent of the judicial system, the district court decided *not* to enforce the Award at issue in this appeal in accordance with its plain terms. For a variety of reasons, the court erred in fundamental ways. However, only the issue concerning the applicability of FLA. STAT. §768.73 will be argued here.

The district court erroneously applied a section of Florida's Tort Reform and Insurance Act of 1986 to the Mieles' non-judicial and contractually based arbitration proceeding. That Act provides for the apportionment of punitive damages between the state and plaintiffs in *civil actions* tried in *court* before *juries*. The statute was adopted in response to a perceived need to control inexperienced and emotional jurors and to prevent "runaway" jury verdicts which were thought to limit the ability of citizens in Florida to obtain liability insurance. The objectives of that statute are furthered by use of alternative dispute resolution vehicles, including arbitration. Application of that statute to arbitration will have precisely the opposite - and unintended - effect of discouraging its use.

For example, arbitrators are experienced business persons, not inexperienced and emotional jurors. They are chosen precisely for that reason<sup>4</sup> and the underlying concern for tort reform is not only non-existent in the arbitration process, but the arbitration process itself is a means of furthering tort reform and eliminating "runaway" jury verdicts by eliminating the jury. Moreover, Florida courts have consistently made bright line distinctions between the terms "civil action" and "arbitration" and the legislature is presumed to have been aware of these distinctions at the time the tort reform legislation was adopted. The legislature's careful choice of words results in the plain conclusion that the statute is not applicable to arbitrations at all. Indeed, the only Florida court found to have addressed this issue has succinctly held precisely that and found the entire statute to be inapplicable to an arbitration award.

---

<sup>4</sup> For example, the *Securities Arbitration Rules* of the American Arbitration Association (which applied to the instant arbitration) specifically require that at least one arbitrator will be appointed to securities panels who is "affiliated with the securities industry." American Arbitration Association, *Securities Arbitration Rules*, Rule 13.

Finally, to the extent that Florida's tort reform legislation may be found applicable to an arbitration award, such application in the arbitration process unconstitutionally impairs Appellants' contract rights. The arbitration contract between the Appellants and Appellees was entered into prior to the effective date of Florida's tort reform legislation and any attempted retroactive application would result in further unconstitutional interference with pre-existing contract rights between the parties to this appeal and an impermissible impairment of the obligations of contract. More generally, the holder of an arbitration award (unlike the holder of a punitive damages judgment) has a vested property and contract right which, even in the absence of a judicial confirmation, is an enforceable contract right.

Accordingly, this Court should answer the certified question in the negative, thereby giving full recognition to the existence of the contract between the parties and the intentional and clear differences between the arbitration process (created and controlled by contract) and the judicial system (including the legislative concern arising out of perceived runaway jury verdicts).

## V. ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS

### A. **Section 768.73(2) Applies Only to "Civil Actions" and Has No Application to the Mieles' Arbitration Award**

As the settled law favoring narrow and summary review and prompt confirmation of arbitration awards makes clear, the district court should have confirmed the Mieles' Award according to its terms.<sup>5</sup> However, the district court concluded that §768.73 was intended to

---

<sup>5</sup> *Supra*, n. 3. In addition, the National Association of Securities Dealers' Board of Governors' Resolution directs member firms and persons associated with member firms *to pay arbitration awards in the exact dollar*  
(continued...)

interfere with or curtail contractually based alternative dispute resolution mechanisms like arbitration. To the contrary, this section of Florida's Tort Reform and Insurance Act of 1986 was prompted by perceived "runaway" *jury* verdicts and was designed to blunt the impetus for trying punitive damages claims to *juries in court*.

Significantly, the legislative history of §768.73(2) betrays no intention on the part of the legislature to extend limitations on punitive damages to arbitrations which, by their very nature, are part of the tort reform solution rather than the problem. In support, the preamble to Chapter 86-160, Laws of Florida (which created the Tort Reform and Insurance Act) expresses several concerns which compel the conclusion that §768.73(2) was not intended by the legislature to be imposed upon an arbitration award. For example, the preamble states that "the people of Florida are concerned with the increased "*cost of litigation*" and that "it is the sense of the Legislature that if the present crisis is not abated, many persons who are subject to *civil actions* will be unable to purchase liability insurance." See Chapter 86-160, Laws of Florida, at p.698.

---

<sup>5</sup>(...continued)  
*amount stated in the award immediately upon receipt:*

It may be deemed conduct inconsistent with just and equitable principles of trade and a violation of Article III, Section 1 of the Rules of Fair Practice for a member or a person associated with a member to ... fail to honor an award of arbitrators properly rendered pursuant to the Uniform Code of Arbitration under the auspices of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., the New York, American, Boston, Cincinnati, Midwest, Pacific or Philadelphia Stock Exchanges, the Chicago Board Options Exchange, the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, or pursuant to the rules applicable to the arbitration of securities disputes before the American Arbitration Association, where a timely motion has not been made to vacate or modify such award pursuant to applicable law.

*All awards shall be honored by a cash payment to the prevailing party of the exact dollar amount stated in the award. ... Awards shall be honored upon receipt thereof, or within such other time period as may be prescribed by the award.*

In view of these express legislative concerns, it is obvious that the various statutes such as §768.73(2) codified by the Tort Reform and Insurance Act were not meant to impact arbitration, a means of dispute resolution which has repeatedly been praised by the courts as a highly favored and less costly alternative to litigation. *See Booth v. Hume Publishing, supra*, 902 F.2d at 932 ("[T]he purpose of the Federal Arbitration Act was. . . to provide parties with an alternative method for dispute resolution that would be speedier and less costly than litigation' ."); *Intracoastal Ventures Corp. v. Safeco Insurance Company of America*, 540 So.2d 162, 164 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) ("[p]ublic policy favors arbitration as an alternative to litigation.").

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