CLERK, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. 81,467

DOM MIELE and SHIRLEY MIELE, Petitioners - Appellants,

ν.

PRUDENTIAL-BACHE, ET AL., Respondents - Appellees.

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT No. 92-2334 USDC No. 91-150-CIV-FTM-15D

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

John D. Boykin, Esquire
Boose, Casey, Ciklin, Lubitz,
Martens, McBane & O'Connell
515 N. Flagler Drive, 19th Floor
P. O. Drawer 024626
West Palm Beach, Florida 33402
(407) 832-5900

Attorneys for Respondents/Appellees

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellees accept Appellants' statement of the facts and of the case to the extent they are not argumentative. Appellees do note that almost all of the facts set forth have no relevance to the certified question before this Court. The United States District Court, Middle District of Florida, ordered Appellees to pay 60% of the punitive damage award into the Court's registry awaiting the ultimate resolution of this matter. The monies still remain there to this date. Appellees also note that Appellants had the opportunity to petition the arbitration panel for clarification of its award, but failed to do so.

The Eleventh Circuit certified the question "Does Florida Statute Section 768.73 apply to arbitration awards?" The relevant issue, however, deals only with subsection (2) of that statute.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 768.73(2), Florida Statutes, applies to arbitrated matters by its plain language and inasmuch as the court system must be utilized to enforce any arbitration award. Once an arbitration award is enforced by utilization of the judicial system, the mandate set forth in Section 768.73(2) comes into play. Section 768.73(2) is constitutional.

ARGUMENT

SECTION 768.73(2) APPLIES TO THE MIELES' ARBITRATION AWARD.

Section 768.73(2), Florida Statutes, applies to arbitration awards and to the civil actions necessary to confirm such awards¹. Appellants' argument is misplaced given that the language of the statute and the broad definition of "civil action" clearly support the district court's decision to apply the statute to the confirmation judgment. The cases cited by Appellants for their proposition are distinguishable and of little or no precedential value to the issue at hand. This issue truly is a question of first impression in Florida.

A. The Statutory Language Clearly Mandates
Applicability to Arbitrated Matters

During the relevant time, Section 768.73(2) provided:

- (2) <u>In any civil action</u>, an award of punitive damages shall be payable as follows:
- (a) Forty percent of the award shall be payable to the claimant.
- (b) If the cause of action was based on personal injury or wrongful death, 60 percent of the award shall be payable to the Public Medical Assistance Trust Fund created in Section 409.2662; otherwise, 60 percent of the award shall be payable to the General Revenue fund (emphasis added).

There is nothing unclear about the language of Section 768.73(2). Appellants misconstrue the term "civil action" as being narrow and

¹Although the Eleventh Circuit's question was facially broader by encompassing all of Section 768.73, only subsection (2) of that statute is relevant here. This brief is limited to argument relative to subsection (2).

limited in scope when, in fact, the exact opposite is true.

"Civil action" is a broad term used to characterize a wide range
of legal actions. For example, Black's Law Dictionary defines

"civil Action" as follows:

Action brought to enforce, redress or protect private rights. In general, all types of actions other than criminal proceedings. The term includes all actions, both those formerly known as legal actions, or, in other phraseology, both suits in equity and actions at law. [e.s.]

Black's Law Dictionary (abridged 5th ed, 1983), p.127. "Civil action" therefore encompasses all actions except criminal actions. This broad definition is likewise embraced by the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, as well as the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Both Rule 2, Fed.R.Civ.P. and Rule 1.040, Fla.R.Civ.P., provide:

One Form of Action: There shall be one form of action to be known as "civil action".

Thus, contrary to Appellants' contention, "civil action" is not subject to narrow interpretation, but is a term which is all encompassing except for matters criminal in nature. See generally, Winkelman v. General Motors Corporation, 488 F.Supp. 490 (D.C.N.Y. 1942); Gillson v. Vendome Petroleum Corporation, 35 F.Supp. 815 (D.C.La. 1940).

The plain language of the statute clearly contemplates arbitration awards as being subject to the mandates of Section 768.73(2). Beyond the plain language, the purpose and intent behind Section 768.73(2) also suggests its applicability to arbitration awards. Appellants attempt to limit the meaning of, and intent

behind, Section 768.73(2) in order to fashion a colorable argument. Again, they have missed the broad scope of the tort reform legislation. For example, Section 768.71(1), Florida Statutes, provides:

Except as otherwise specifically provided, this part [including Section 768.72] applies to any action for damages, whether in tort or in contract (emphasis added)².

They are correct that the reform was a product of the concern regarding increased awards and their effects on liability insurance. The concern was not for the "cost of litigation", but more appropriately the rise in the frequency and amount of punitive damage awards. Arbitration proceedings allow such punitive damages awards, as evidenced by the instant case. To limit the statute so to not apply to arbitration proceedings would be to exclude a large area of dispute resolution which involves the very dangers which the legislation was meant to address. In sum, the legislative intent and purpose behind Section 768.73(2), and the tort reform legislation, embrace the concern for higher punitive damage claims and applies to arbitration awards the same as other actions.

Appellants incorrectly place great reliance upon <u>Dean Witter Reynolds</u>, <u>Inc. v. Duncan</u>, No. 92-1309, <u>slip op</u>. (Fla. Cir. Ct. 13th Jud. Dist. July 16, 1992) and <u>Allstate Insurance Co. v. Collier</u>, 428 So.2d 379 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). Notwithstanding the

²This statute, referencing "any action...whether in tort or in contract", also points out the fallacy of Appellants' argument that since arbitration is "contractually based", Section 768.73(2) does not apply.

fact it is of no precedential value, Dean Witter is clearly distinguishable given it did not involve a confirmation proceeding, rather an interpleader action seeking to join a non-party rather reduce the award to judament. Further, Collier distinguishable given it involved a statute in derogation of established common law principles which therefore required strict construction on the part of the court. Also, Collier was a 1983 case whereas the very statute in question did not come into effect until July 1, 1986. More importantly, the statute in question was not applicable because the claims brought by the plaintiff were not brought or alleged under Section 627.737, Florida Statutes, a condition precedent to the applicability of the statute. The fact that an arbitration was involved was irrelevant given that the same result would have been reached if the plaintiff had filed suit in court and failed to make claim pursuant to Section 627.737.

The district court was correct in applying Section 768.73(2) to the instant case. The language of the statute and its purpose support the conclusion that the statute is applicable to arbitration proceedings and the confirmation proceedings thereon.

B. Award Confirmation Proceedings Are Civil Actions

. . .

Not only are arbitration proceedings civil actions³, but in this case, as with most arbitrations, in order to reduce the arbitration <u>award</u> to an enforceable <u>judgment</u> the award must be

³See, for example, Rule 1.800, et. seq., Fla.R.Civ.P., which sets forth rules of civil procedure for arbitrations.

confirmed by a court of competent jurisdiction. See Sections 682.12 and 682.15, Florida Statutes; 9 U.S.C. Section 9. confirmation proceeding is clearly a "civil action". Appellants cite to Rule 1.050, Fla.R.Civ.P., for the proposition that all "civil actions" are commenced by the filing of a complaint. That rule clearly provides that "actions of a is incorrect. civil nature" shall commence by filing a complaint, petition, writ or pleading⁴. Thus, the filing of a complaint is not a prerequisite to a "civil action" under the Florida rules. action commenced by pleading or petition (such as a petition or motion to confirm, vacate, etc., an arbitration award) constitutes an "action of a civil nature". Accordingly, notwithstanding all other arguments, once a court is brought into the fray, a "civil action" has begun and substantive law such as Section 768.73(2) comes into play.

C. Other Subsections of Section 768.73 have No Applicability to This Matter

Appellants' arguments with respect to other subsections of Section 768.73 are wholly misplaced. Appellants attempt to creatively read parts of Section 768.73 other than subsection (2) in order to construct an argument. Subsection (2) only applies to "who gets the punitive damages". Subsections (3) and (4) modify

⁴Rule 1.050 provides:

Every action of a civil nature shall be deemed commenced when the complaint or petition is filed except that ancillary proceedings shall be deemed commenced when the writ is issued or the pleading setting forth the claim of the party initiating the action is filed (emphasis added).

subsection (2) if certain stated contingencies arise. Subsection (1) only has to do with "limitations" on punitive damages. Further, subsections (1)(a) and (b) make specific reference to the "trier of fact". The trier of fact in a civil action can be a jury, trial judge, magistrate or, like in this case, a panel of arbitrators. Appellants contend that the use of the word "jury" in subsection (5) somehow excludes arbitration proceedings from the statute's purview. Appellants fail to note that subsection (5) is only applicable to a matter which involves a jury, i.e., the propriety of a jury instruction. This shows that the legislature intended each subsection to stand on its own.

Appellants raise the argument that Section 768.73(1)(a) contains limiting language referring to particular types of causes of actions, and somehow this restricts the applicability of subsection (2). That argument fails for three reasons. First, subsection (2) has no such limiting language. Second, a negligence claim was also made in the Statement of Claim. Third, the Appellants' claims below were based generally upon Appellees alleged improper conduct associated with the management of Appellants' security investments. Such allegations constitute "misconduct in commercial transactions". Appellants' claims, other than negligence, directly relate to alleged misconduct in a commercial transaction.

The plain language of the other subsections of 768.73 shows they have nothing to do with the issue at bar. Assuming arguendo

somehow they do have some relevance, then the instant action also falls within the limitations of the statute.

D. <u>Section 768.73(2) is Constitutional</u>

Generally, Appellees respond to Appellants' arguments with respect to constitutionality by reference to this Court's recent decision in Gordon v. State of Florida, 608 So.2d 800 (Fla. 1992). Appellants are merely rearguing matters already ruled upon in that case. This Court has long held that the right to have punitive damages assessed is not property and as such, it is impossible to impair such non-existent property rights. Ross v. Gore, 48 So.2d 412, 414 (Fla. 1950). Since there is no contract right to punitive damages, punitive damages could not have been within the contemplation of parties when the contract was entered into. Accordingly, there can be no unconstitutional interference with any property rights.

CONCLUSION

Section 768.73(2), Florida Statutes, squarely applies to arbitrations, arbitration awards and the arbitration enforcement process. The certified question of "Does Fla. Stat. Section 768.73 apply to arbitration awards?" as limited to subsection (2) should be answered "yes".